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JWV/MKA/TMJ Feb. 2015 
GJ #12 

 
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ALABAMA 
SOUTHERN DIVISION 

 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ) 
      ) 

v.     ) Case No. 2: 14-cr-00382-LSC-JEO 
) 

JONATHAN WADE DUNNING, ) 
Defendant.     ) 
 

SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT 

The Grand Jury charges: 

At all times relevant to this Indictment: 

Introduction 

1. The Health Resources & Services Administration (“HRSA”) resides 

within the United States Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”), and 

is an agency of the United States. HRSA is the primary federal agency tasked with 

improving access to health care by strengthening the health care workforce, 

building healthy communities, and achieving health equity. Tens of millions of 

Americans obtain affordable health care and other help through HRSA’s 100-plus 

programs and more than 3,000 grantees. 

2. Birmingham Health Care (“BHC”) is a non-profit organization located 

in Birmingham, Alabama. BHC’s stated mission is to provide no-cost and low-cost 
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health services to homeless and economically disadvantaged segments of the 

population in and around the Birmingham, Alabama, area, including primary 

medical and dental care for children and adults who are underserved, homeless 

persons, and individuals that fall below the Federal Poverty Level. BHC began 

receiving grant funds from HRSA over twenty years ago, and continued to receive 

grant funds at all times relevant. 

3. Central Alabama Comprehensive Health, Inc. (“CACH”) is a non-

profit organization located in Tuskegee, Alabama. CACH’s stated mission is to 

provide access to primary and preventative health care to individuals residing in 

East Alabama without regard to their ability to pay for such services. CACH began 

receiving grant funds from HRSA over twenty years ago, and continued to receive 

grant funds at all times relevant. 

4. HRSA administers a variety of grant programs designed to fund 

particular projects and serve specified purposes. One such program is the 

Community Health Center (“CHC”) program. Its purpose is to provide a safety net 

for the nation’s medically underserved populations, such as the uninsured, 

the poor, homeless persons, migrant and seasonal farm workers, and public 

housing residents by developing a health care system to provide these services. 

CHCs must develop bylaws that include policy provisions that prohibit conflicts of 
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interest by board members, employees, consultants, and those who furnish goods 

or services to the health center. 

5. The Black Lung Clinic Program was implemented to support clinics 

with federal funding to seek out and provide services to active and inactive coal 

miners to minimize the effects of job-related respiratory impairment, improve the 

health status of miners exposed to coal dust, and to increase coordination with 

other benefit programs. 

6. The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (“ARRA”) afforded 

additional federal funding to include approximately $500 million for New Access 

Points (“NAP”) and $1.5 billion for the Capital Improvement Program (“CIP”). 

The CIP grant allows funding for projects that involve construction, 

alteration/repair/renovation, equipment, and health information technology. 

7. CACH and BHC have applied for and received millions of dollars in 

various federal grants from HRSA, including those listed above. Federal grants 

administered by HRSA and HHS constitute the majority of CACH and BHC’s 

funding. 

8. In or about 2008, BHC, located in Birmingham within Jefferson 

County, within the Northern District of Alabama, became the entity in charge of 

the fiscal affairs of CACH, located in Tuskegee, Alabama. 
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9. Defendant JONATHAN WADE DUNNING was the Chief 

Executive Officer (“CEO”) of BHC until late 2008.  Defendant DUNNING also 

served as the CEO of CACH for a time. 

10. In late 2008, Defendant DUNNING vacated the CEO position at BHC 

purportedly to operate companies for which he was the registered agent and/or 

incorporator. Defendant DUNNING’s companies—in existence at that time and 

later formed—included Synergy Medical Solutions, incorporated in August 2006; 

Synergy Billing Solutions, incorporated in March 2008; Synergy Health Link, 

incorporated in August 2008; Legacy Consulting Group, incorporated in August 

2008; Synergy Real Estate Holdings, incorporated in October 2007; Synergy Real 

Estate Holdings II, incorporated in December 2009; Synergy Real Estate Holdings 

III, incorporated in January 2010; and Synergy Real Estate Holdings IV, 

incorporated in February 2012 (hereinafter “Synergy Entities”).  Defendant 

DUNNING additionally incorporated Integrated Health Systems of Alabama in 

August 2006 (later reconstituted as Integrated Health Systems Alliance in July 

2008) (hereinafter “IHSA”). 

11. Defendant DUNNING remained a paid consultant at BHC after he 

vacated the CEO position at BHC. 
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12. Defendant DUNNING used his position as CEO of BHC and his 

subsequent position as a consultant to BHC, to obtain money and property 

belonging to BHC. 

13. At the initiation and direction of Defendant DUNNING, BHC and 

CACH entered into various agreements and arrangements whereby federal grant 

funds (including HRSA grants), assets, and property were transferred and diverted 

from BHC and CACH to the Synergy Entities and IHSA. 

14. Defendant DUNNING, aided and abetted by others known and 

unknown, caused financial transactions that resulted in transfers of funds and 

property from BHC and CACH to the Synergy Entities, IHSA, Defendant 

DUNNING, and others.  Some of those funds had come to BHC and CACH from 

HRSA grants. 

15. Defendant DUNNING, aided and abetted by others known and 

unknown, caused financial transactions that resulted in transfers of funds and 

property from the Synergy Entities and IHSA to Defendant DUNNING and others, 

thereby enriching Defendant DUNNING and others.  Said funds and property 

included HRSA grant funds first received by BHC and CACH and then transferred 

and diverted to the Synergy Entities and IHSA. 
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16. Over the past six years, more than $14 million dollars have been 

transferred and diverted from BHC and CACH to the Synergy Entities and IHSA. 

17. Defendant DUNNING and others enriched themselves with the 

federal grant funds, assets, and property of BHC and CACH. 

18. BHC was an organization and agency that received, in each and any 

relevant 12-month period, more than $10,000 under a Federal program involving a 

grant, contract, subsidy, loan, guarantee, insurance and other form of federal 

assistance. 

19. CACH was an organization and agency that received, in each and any 

relevant 12-month period, more than $10,000 under a Federal program involving a 

grant, contract, subsidy, loan, guarantee, insurance and other form of federal 

assistance. 

20. On or before October 3, 2008, BHC became the sponsor for 

Birmingham Financial Federal Credit Union (“BFFCU”), a financial institution 

insured by the National Credit Union Administration (“NCUA”), a U.S. 

Government Agency. 

21. The following entities were insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance 

Corporation (“FDIC”):  Branch Banking and Trust Company (“BB&T Bank”), 
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Bryant Bank, Citizens Trust Bank, Frontier Bank, Heritage Bank of the South, 

Regions Bank, ServisFirst Bank, Wachovia Bank, and Wells Fargo Bank. 

COUNTS ONE THROUGH THREE 
Wire Fraud 

18 U.S.C. §§ 1343 & 2 
 

1. The Grand Jury repeats and realleges the allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1 through 17 of the Introduction to this Indictment as though fully set 

out herein. 

2. Beginning in or about September 2007 and continuing to in or about 

December 2009, in Jefferson County within the Northern District of Alabama, and 

elsewhere, the defendant, 

JONATHAN WADE DUNNING, 

aided and abetted by others, known and unknown, did knowingly and with the 

intent to defraud, devise and intend to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud the 

United States Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), the Health 

Resources & Services Administration (HRSA), Birmingham Health Care (BHC), 

and others of money and property, and to obtain money and property, by means of 

materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises. 
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Purpose of the Scheme and Artifice 

3. It was a part of the scheme and artifice that Defendant DUNNING, 

aided and abetted by others known and unknown, obtained for himself and others 

certain real property previously owned by BHC. 

4. It was a further part of the scheme and artifice that Defendant 

DUNNING, aided and abetted by others known and unknown, used money and 

property of BHC to obtain real estate that was then titled to the Synergy Entities. 

5. It was a further part of the scheme and artifice that Defendant 

DUNNING, in or about February 2008, caused BHC to sell property BHC owned 

located at 1600 20th Street South, Birmingham, Alabama; property located at 1942 

16th Avenue South, Birmingham, Alabama; and property located at 1934 16th 

Avenue South, Birmingham, Alabama (hereinafter and collectively, the “Plaza 

Property”) to a company that Defendant DUNNING controlled by the name of 

Synergy Real Estate Holdings (hereinafter, “SREH”), which had been incorporated 

in or about October 2007. 

6. It was a further part of the scheme and artifice that Defendant 

DUNNING caused the Plaza Property to be sold by BHC to SREH at far below the 

value of said property, resulting in the transfer of property value away from BHC 

to DUNNING. 
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7. It was a further part of the scheme and artifice that, as a result of this 

sale, BHC no longer occupied the Plaza Property as its owner, but rather as a 

tenant – with its landlord being SREH. 

8. It was a further part of the scheme and artifice that, in or about late 

2009, while serving as a paid consultant to BHC, Defendant DUNNING sought to 

buy a property located at 1401 24th Street North, Birmingham, Alabama 

(hereinafter, the “Norwood Property”). 

9. It was a further part of the scheme and artifice that, in or about 

December 2009, Defendant DUNNING caused BHC’s money and property to be 

used to purchase the Norwood Property, which then was titled to Synergy Real 

Estate Holdings II (hereinafter, “SREH II”). 

10. It was a further part of the scheme and artifice that BHC’s federal 

grant funds were “drawn down” from HRSA into BHC’s Wachovia bank account 

in order to ensure that the balance in BHC’s Wachovia bank account would be 

sufficient to allow the wiring of funds to purchase the Norwood property. 

11. It was a further part of the scheme and artifice that BHC’s line of 

credit at Regions Bank was utilized in order to ensure that the balance in BHC’s 

Regions bank account would be sufficient to allow the wiring of funds to purchase 

the Norwood property. 
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12. It was a further part of the scheme and artifice that over $1 million of 

BHC’s money was used to purchase the Norwood Property, which was titled solely 

to SREH II. 

THE WIRE COMMUNICATIONS 

13. On or about the dates set forth below, each such date constituting a 

separate count of this Indictment, in Jefferson County within the Northern District 

of Alabama, and elsewhere, the defendant, 

JONATHAN WADE DUNNING, 

for the purpose of executing the above-described scheme and artifice, did transmit 

and cause to be transmitted in interstate commerce, by means of a wire 

communication, certain signs, signals, and communications, that is, Defendant 

JONATHAN WADE DUNNING caused an interstate wire communication 

between Alabama and another state to be made for each transmission of funds 

listed below: 

14. The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 13 above are realleged for 

each of Counts 1 through 3 below as though fully set forth therein. 
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COUNT DATE AMOUNT SOURCE 
ACCOUNT PAYEE 

1 12/16/09 $10,000.00 BHC Wachovia  
bank account x3498 

Commonwealth Land 
Title 

2 12/28/09 $400,000.00 BHC Regions  
bank account x3788 

Commonwealth Land 
Title 

3 12/29/09 $652,432.47 BHC Wachovia  
bank account x3498 

Commonwealth Land 
Title 

 
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 and 2. 

 
COUNT FOUR 

Conspiracy 
18 U.S.C. § 371 

 
1. The Grand Jury repeats and realleges the allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1 through 21 of the Introduction to this Superseding Indictment as 

though fully set out herein. 

2. The Grand Jury repeats and realleges the allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1 through 14 of Counts One through Three of this Superseding 

Indictment as though fully set out herein. 

The Conspiracy 

3. From in or about September 2007, through the present, in Jefferson 

County within the Northern District of Alabama, and elsewhere, the defendant, 

JONATHAN WADE DUNNING, 
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did willfully, knowingly, and unlawfully combine, conspire, confederate, and agree 

with other persons known and unknown to the Grand Jury to commit certain 

offenses against the United States, to wit: 

a. to embezzle, steal, obtain by fraud, and otherwise without 
authority knowingly convert to the use of any person other than the 
rightful owners and intentionally misapply, property that was valued 
at $5,000 and more and was owned by and was under the care, 
custody, and control of an organization and any agency thereof that 
received in any one-year period in excess of $10,000 under a Federal 
program involving a grant, contract, subsidy, loan, guarantee, 
insurance and other form of federal assistance, as an agent of said 
organization and agency, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, 
Section 666; 
 
b. to – having devised and intended to devise any scheme and 
artifice to defraud and for obtaining money and property by means of 
materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and 
promises – transmit and cause to be transmitted by means of wire, 
radio, and television communication in interstate and foreign 
commerce, any writings, signs, signals, pictures, and sounds for the 
purpose of executing such scheme and artifice, in violation of Title 
18, United States Code, Section 1343; 
 
c. to knowingly execute and attempt to execute a scheme and 
artifice to defraud a financial institution and to obtain any of the 
moneys, funds, credits, assets, securities, and other property owned 
by, and under the custody and control of, a financial institution, by 
means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, 
and promises, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 
1344; 
 
d. to conduct and attempt to conduct a financial transaction which 
in fact involves the proceeds of specified unlawful activity with the 
intent to promote the carrying on of specified unlawful activity; and 
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with intent to engage in conduct constituting a violation of section 
7201 and 7206 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986; and knowing 
that the transaction is designed in whole and in part to conceal and 
disguise the nature, the location, the source, the ownership, and the 
control of the proceeds of specified unlawful activity; and to avoid a 
transaction reporting requirement under State and Federal law, in 
violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(a)(1); and 
 
e. to knowingly engage and attempt to engage in monetary 
transactions by, through, and to a financial institution, affecting 
interstate and foreign commerce, in criminally derived property of a 
value greater than $10,000, such property having been derived from a 
specified unlawful activity, in violation of Title 18, United States 
Code, Section 1957. 

Manner and Means 

Real Estate 

4. It was a part of the conspiracy that, in or about February 2008, while 

Defendant DUNNING was the CEO of BHC, he would and did cause BHC to vest 

in Synergy Real Estate Holdings (“SREH” or “SREH I”), an entity he incorporated 

in October 2007, ownership of the Plaza Property, without placing said property on 

the open real estate market, where the property could have had an opportunity to 

fetch a competitive purchase price.  As a result, SREH I was able to purchase the 

Plaza Property for an amount far below the property’s assessed value. 

5. It was further a part of the conspiracy that this transaction and 

Defendant DUNNING’s interest in this transaction were concealed from HRSA. 
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6. It was further a part of the conspiracy that, while Defendant 

DUNNING was still the CEO of BHC, he and others would and did cause BHC to 

become a tenant at the Plaza Property through lease agreements with SREH I.  

Under those lease agreements, BHC became obligated to pay SREH I monthly rent 

for the portion of the Plaza Property that BHC occupied, with said rent payments 

being substantially higher than BHC’s previous mortgage payments for the whole 

of the Plaza Property.  BHC also lost the rent income from the Plaza Property’s 

other tenants. 

7. It was further a part of the conspiracy that, in or about December 

2009,  Defendant DUNNING and others would and did cause BHC to fund the 

approximately $1.1 million purchase of the Norwood Property and cause 

ownership of the Norwood property to be placed in the name of Synergy Real 

Estate Holdings II (“SREH II”), which DUNNING owned. 

8. It was further a part of the conspiracy that Defendant DUNNING 

would and did cause BHC to become a tenant and enter into a lease agreement to 

“rent” space in the Norwood Property from SREH II. 

9. It was further a part of the conspiracy that Defendant DUNNING 

would and did cause subsequent mortgages and refinance agreements to be entered 
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regarding the Plaza Property and Norwood Property in order to obtain control over 

proceeds of those mortgages. 

10. It was further a part of the conspiracy that, in or about February 2010, 

Defendant DUNNING and others would and did create Synergy Real Estate 

Holdings III (“SREH III”), in which BHC had an interest.  Defendant DUNNING 

would and did cause SREH III to purchase two pieces of property located at 2030 

First Avenue North, Birmingham, Alabama, and 2018 First Avenue North, 

Birmingham, Alabama (collectively, the “First Avenue Property”).  BHC paid the 

monthly mortgage on the First Avenue Property, ostensibly under an agreement 

that Defendant DUNNING would ensure that other parties paid to renovate the 

building.  The renovation never was completed and the space never was used by 

BHC. 

11.  It was further a part of the conspiracy that, when SREH III sold the 

First Avenue Property to a disinterested third property in or about December 2013, 

Defendant DUNNING deposited all of the sale’s proceeds into his personal bank 

account. 

12. It was further a part of the conspiracy that, in or about January 2012, 

Defendant DUNNING and others would and did cause BHC to take a mortgage of 

approximately $880,000.00 on its property at 712 25th Street North, Birmingham, 
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Alabama (the “Metro Property”), and to pay approximately $350,000.00 of those 

mortgage proceeds to a Synergy Entity. 

Contracts to Provide Services and Administer Grants 

13. It was further a part of the conspiracy that, when Defendant 

DUNNING ceased being the CEO of BHC and CACH in order to run his for-profit 

businesses, Defendant DUNNING continued to exercise control over BHC and 

CACH. 

14. It was further a part of the conspiracy that Defendant DUNNING, 

through the Synergy Entities and IHSA, hired key personnel away from BHC and 

then contracted with BHC and CACH for those same individuals to provide their 

services to BHC and CACH. 

15. It was further a part of the conspiracy that Defendant DUNNING 

would and did cause BHC and CACH to enter various contracts with the Synergy 

Entities and IHSA to provide goods and services in order for Defendant 

DUNNING to obtain control over a large portion of BHC’s and CACH’s income – 

including contracts that covered provision of grant-writing (i.e., development) 

services, billing services, and other core activities and functions of BHC and 

CACH. 
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16. It was further a part of the conspiracy that Defendant DUNNING 

would and did cause BHC and CACH to enter into contracts under which 

DUNNING’s entities, including the Synergy Entities, would obtain control over 

HRSA grant funds and particular projects, such as renovations, Safety & Health 

Emergency Preparedness (“SHEP”) kits, “Smart”/“SMART” cards, the pharmacy, 

and other programs such as Healthy Start. 

17. It was further a part of the conspiracy that, when BHC issued certain 

checks to pay Synergy Billing Solutions (“SBS”), Defendant DUNNING would 

and did accept, intercept, and divert those checks for his own use without 

providing to the co-owner of Synergy Billing Solutions the portion of those funds 

due and owing to the co-owner. 

18. It was further a part of the conspiracy that Defendant DUNNING and 

others would and did cause concealment from and misrepresentations to HRSA 

regarding the expenditure of grant funds and the finances of BHC and CACH. 

Promissory Notes and Purported Debt; Use of Birmingham Federal Financial 
Credit Union (“BFFCU”) 
 

19. It was further a part of the conspiracy that Defendant DUNNING 

would and did cause BHC to enter into various promissory notes, loan agreements, 

and other contractual arrangements under which BHC agreed to pay DUNNING at 

least $1,300,000 purportedly for money that he had “loaned” to BHC. 
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20. It was further a part of the conspiracy that Defendant DUNNING 

would and did use his various positions at BFFCU – including President, Board 

Chairman, and/or Loan Officer – to control BHC’s money on deposit with BFFCU, 

ensuring that DUNNING, the Synergy Entities, and IHSA received priority 

payments. 

21. It was further a part of the conspiracy that Defendant DUNNING 

would and did use his various positions at BFFCU – including President, Board 

Chairman, and/or Loan Officer – to control the mechanics of BHC’s income 

stream in order to increase BHC’s apparent financial dependence on DUNNING as 

a “lender.” 

22. It was further a part of the conspiracy that, when BHC was unable to 

pay other vendors and creditors after making payments that Defendant DUNNING 

deemed to be a priority, Defendant DUNNING would cause himself and the 

Synergy Entities to “loan” money to BHC. 

23. It was further a part of the conspiracy that Defendant DUNNING 

would and did use his various positions at BFFCU – including President, Board 

Chairman, and/or Loan Officer – to require BFFCU to make loans for the benefit 

of himself and others without regard to whether the borrower could and would 

have been approved for the loan through BFFCU’s policies and procedures. 
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24. It was a further part of the conspiracy that, over an approximately 

seven-year period, BHC and CACH issued over 286 checks and transfers to SMS, 

over 146 checks and transfers to SREH and SREH II, over 30 checks and transfers 

to SBS, over 8 checks and transfers to Legacy Consulting Group, over 10 checks 

and transfers to Synergy Health Link, and over 44 checks and transfers to IHSA. 

Overt Acts 

25. In furtherance of the conspiracy and to achieve the objects thereof, 

Defendant JONATHAN WADE DUNNING and others committed and caused to 

be committed the following overt acts, among others, in the Northern District of 

Alabama and elsewhere: 

26. In or about August 2006, while still CEO of BHC, Defendant 

DUNNING incorporated Synergy Medical Solutions (“SMS”), a for-profit entity, 

and Integrated Health Systems of Alabama, a non-profit entity. 

27. In or about October 2007, while still CEO of BHC, Defendant 

DUNNING incorporated Synergy Real Estate Holdings (“SREH” or “SREH I”). 

28. On or about February 29, 2008, while still CEO of BHC, Defendant 

DUNNING caused BHC to sell the Plaza Property for $2,800,000.00, to SREH I. 
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29. In or about March 2008, while Defendant DUNNING was still CEO 

of BHC, Synergy Billing Solutions (“SBS”) was incorporated.  Defendant 

DUNNING became the registered agent of SBS. 

30. On or about March 31, 2008, while Defendant DUNNING was still 

CEO of BHC, he and others caused BHC to issue check number 19379 drawn on 

Regions Bank account x3788 in the amount of $23,322.22 to SMS, a company 

controlled by Defendant DUNNING. 

31. On or about May 14, 2008, while Defendant DUNNING was still 

CEO of BHC, he and others caused BHC to issue check number 19627 drawn on 

Regions Bank account x3788 in the amount of $8,622.91 to SMS, a company 

controlled by Defendant DUNNING. 

32. On or about June 10, 2008, while Defendant DUNNING was still 

CEO of BHC, he and others caused BHC to issue check number 1121 drawn on 

Wachovia Bank account x3498 in the amount of $20,985.47 to SMS, a company 

controlled by Defendant DUNNING. 

33. On or about June 10, 2008, while Defendant DUNNING was still 

CEO of BHC, he and others caused BHC to issue check number 1124 drawn on 

Wachovia Bank account x3498 in the amount of $10,892.05 to SMS, a company 

controlled by Defendant DUNNING. 
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34. On or about July 11, 2008, while Defendant DUNNING was still 

CEO of BHC, he and others caused BHC to issue check number 1306 drawn on 

Wachovia Bank account x3498 in the amount of $1,288.35 to SMS, a company 

controlled by Defendant DUNNING. 

35. On or about July 11, 2008, while Defendant DUNNING was still 

CEO of BHC, he and others caused BHC to issue check number 1308 drawn on 

Wachovia Bank account x3498 in the amount of $22,920.00 to SMS, a company 

controlled by Defendant DUNNING. 

36. On or about July 22, 2008, while Defendant DUNNING was still 

CEO of BHC, he and others caused BHC to issue check number 1379 drawn on 

Wachovia Bank account x3498 in the amount of $18,687.50 to SMS, a company 

controlled by Defendant DUNNING. 

37. In or about July 2008, while still CEO of BHC, Defendant 

DUNNING reconstituted Integrated Health Systems of Alabama, a non-profit 

entity, as Integrated Health Systems Alliance, a for-profit entity, whereby the for-

profit entity obtained control over all property of the non-profit entity.  Defendant 

DUNNING became the registered agent of the for-profit company. 

38. On or about August 28, 2008, while Defendant DUNNING was still 

CEO of BHC, he and others caused BHC to issue check number 1564 drawn on 
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Wachovia Bank account x3498 in the amount of $14,040.43 to SMS, a company 

controlled by Defendant DUNNING. 

39. In or about August 2008, while Defendant DUNNING was still CEO 

of BHC, Synergy Health Link and Legacy Consulting Group were incorporated.  

Defendant DUNNING became the registered agent of these two entities. 

40. On or about September 15, 2008, while Defendant DUNNING was 

still CEO of BHC, he and others caused BHC to issue check number 1612 drawn 

on Wachovia Bank account x3498 in the amount of $3,455.15 to SMS, a company 

controlled by Defendant DUNNING. 

41. On or about September 30, 2008, while Defendant DUNNING was 

still CEO of BHC, he and others caused BHC to issue check number 1691 drawn 

on Wachovia Bank account x3498 in the amount of $12,117.73 to SMS, a 

company controlled by Defendant DUNNING. 

42. On or about October 2, 2008, while Defendant DUNNING was still 

CEO of BHC, he and others caused BHC to issue check number 1714 drawn on 

Wachovia Bank account x3498 in the amount of $6,000.00 to SMS, a company 

controlled by Defendant DUNNING. 
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43. On or about October 3, 2008, while Defendant DUNNING was still 

CEO of BHC, he and others caused BFFCU to be insured by the National Credit 

Union Administration (“NCUA”), a U.S. Government Agency. 

44. On or about October 21, 2008, while Defendant DUNNING was still 

CEO of BHC, he and others caused BHC to issue check number 1787 drawn on 

Wachovia Bank account x3498 in the amount of $10,964.03 to SMS, a company 

controlled by Defendant DUNNING. 

45. On or about October 31, 2008, while Defendant DUNNING was still 

CEO of BHC, he and others caused BHC to issue check number 1843 drawn on 

Wachovia Bank account x3498 in the amount of $9,174.83 to SMS, a company 

controlled by Defendant DUNNING. 

46. On or about November 3, 2008, Defendant DUNNING purportedly 

stopped being the CEO of BHC, as another individual assumed that position. 

47. On or about November 3, 2008, Defendant DUNNING caused BHC 

to enter a contract with Legacy Consulting Group under which BHC was obligated 

to pay Legacy Consulting Group $350,000.00 per year in 24 equal installments. 

48. On or about November 3, 2008, Defendant DUNNING caused IHSA 

to enter a contract with Legacy Consulting Group.  Under the agreement, IHSA 
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was obligated to pay Legacy Consulting Group $150,000.00 per year in 24 equal 

installments. 

49. On or about November 14, 2008, Defendant DUNNING and others 

caused BHC to issue check number 1884 drawn on Wachovia Bank account x3498 

in the amount of $47,570.58 to “Jonathan Dunning”. 

50. On or about December 2, 2008, Defendant DUNNING and others 

caused BHC to issue check number 1998 drawn on Wachovia Bank account x3498 

in the amount of $16,369.06 to “Jonathan Dunning”. 

51. In or about March 2009, Defendant DUNNING purportedly stopped 

being the CEO of CACH, as another individual assumed that position. 

52. On or about March 3, 2009, Defendant DUNNING caused CACH to 

enter a 3-year contract with BHC under which CACH was obligated to pay BHC 

$225,000.00 per year in 24 equal installments. 

53. On or about July 10, 2009, Defendant DUNNING signed a contract as 

the “manager” of Reliant Real Estate Group, Inc. (“Reliant”), even though Reliant 

was a wholly owned subsidiary of BHC.  In that contract, BHC agreed to pay 

Reliant’s actual payroll expenses in exchange for Reliant providing BHC with 

security and construction services at all of BHC’s properties and “housing 

management” services for rental properties owned by BHC. 
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54. On or about November 1, 2009, Defendant DUNNING caused BHC 

to enter into a lease agreement for 15,000 square feet of space within the Norwood 

Property.  Under the agreement, BHC would pay SREH monthly “rent” of 

$18,750.00 for 10 years. 

55. In or about December 2009, Synergy Real Estate Holdings II 

(“SREH II”), an entity in which BHC had no ownership interest, was incorporated.  

Defendant DUNNING became the registered agent of SREH II. 

56. On or about December 14, 2009, Defendant DUNNING wrote a letter 

on SMS letterhead to CMMC Development Company L.P. and Locke, Lord, 

Bissell, and Liddell LLP, requesting to extend the closing date on Synergy’s 

purchase of the Norwood Property to December 31, 2009.  In this letter, Defendant 

DUNNING represented that additional time was needed so that Synergy could 

provide Wells Fargo with additional items to “document their files for loan 

closing.” 

57. On or about December 16, 2009, Defendant DUNNING and others 

caused BHC to transfer $10,000.00 from Wachovia Bank account x3498 to 

Commonwealth Land Title in furtherance of SREH II’s purchase of the Norwood 

Property. 
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58. On or about December 28, 2009, Defendant DUNNING and others 

caused BHC to transfer $400,000.00 from BHC Regions Bank account x3788 to 

Commonwealth Land Title in furtherance of SREH II’s purchase of the Norwood 

Property. 

59. On or about December 29, 2009, Defendant DUNNING and others 

caused BHC to transfer $652,432.47 from Wachovia Bank account x3498 to 

Commonwealth Land Title to complete funding of SREH II’s purchase of the 

Norwood Property.  The property was placed in the name of SREH II. 

60. In or about January 2010, Defendant DUNNING incorporated 

Synergy Real Estate Holdings III, in which BHC did have an ownership interest. 

61. On or about March 19, 2010, Defendant DUNNING caused the 

Norwood Property to be mortgaged for approximately $860,000.00.  Of that 

amount, approximately $850,004.00 in mortgage proceeds were deposited into 

SMS Wachovia Bank account X3485. 

62. On or about April 8, 2010, Defendant DUNNING caused $100,000 of 

mortgage proceeds from the Norwood Property to be placed in a certificate of 

deposit in his name at BFFCU. 
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63. On or about April 27, 2010, Defendant DUNNING and others caused 

BHC to pay Synergy Medical Solutions $25,000.00, ostensibly for 250 Smart 

cards. 

64. On or about June 15, 2010, Defendant DUNNING and others caused 

BHC to pay Synergy Medical Solutions $50,000.00, ostensibly for 500 Smart 

cards. 

65. On or about June 29, 2010, Defendant DUNNING and others caused 

BHC to pay Synergy Medical Solutions $7,576.16, with a memo line of “Synergy 

Re III Renovations.” 

66. On or about July 1, 2010, Defendant DUNNING caused BHC to enter 

into a contract with Synergy Health Link in which Synergy Health Link was to 

provide products and services related to Smart cards at the rate of $100.00 per 

Smart card issued, plus (a) the cost of card printers, holders, reader/writers, ink, 

ribbons, and related equipment and (b) unspecified fees for usage and service fees. 

67. From on or about July 26, 2010, until on or about September 21, 

2010, Defendant DUNNING caused BHC’s daily receipts of cash and checks – 

totaling approximately $52,000 – to be deposited into Wachovia Bank account 

x6548 in the name of Synergy Health Link, LLC. 
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68. On or about July 27, 2010, Defendant DUNNING used his various 

positions at BFFCU – including President, Board Chairman, and/or Loan Officer –

to cause BFFCU to fund an $85,000.00 loan for his purchase of a 2011 Jaguar XJL 

without regard to whether he could and would have been approved for the loan 

through BFFCU’s policies and procedures. 

69. On or about July 29, 2010, Defendant DUNNING and others caused 

the transfer of $3,000.00 from Wachovia Bank account x6548 in the name of 

Synergy Health Link to Wachovia Bank account x3485 in the name of Synergy 

Medical Solutions. 

70. On or about September 13, 2010, Defendant DUNNING and others 

caused the transfer of $10,000.00 from Wachovia Bank account x6548 in the name 

of Synergy Health Link to Wachovia Bank account x3485 in the name of Synergy 

Medical Solutions. 

71. On or about September 27, 2010, Defendant DUNNING and others 

caused the transfer of $30,000.00 from Wachovia Bank account x6548 in the name 

of Synergy Health Link to Wachovia Bank account x3485 in the name of Synergy 

Medical Solutions. 

72. From in or about September 2010, until in or about October 2011, 

Defendant DUNNING caused BHC’s daily receipts of cash and checks – totaling 
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more than $950,000 – to be deposited into a BFFCU account in the name of 

Birmingham Health Care rather than into its operating account held at another 

financial institution. 

73. On or about October 1, 2010, Defendant DUNNING caused BHC to 

enter into another contract with Synergy Health Link in which Synergy Health 

Link was to provide BHC with 3,000 SHEP kits, technical support of SMART card 

technology and related equipment, and training for BHC “staff and patients 

necessary to implement and support the SHEP kits products and related 

equipment.”  In exchange, BHC was to pay Synergy Health Link $331,650.00. 

74. On or about November 5, 2010, $50,000.00 was transferred from 

BHC Wachovia Bank account x3498 to Synergy Medical Solutions as a 

“Repayment”. 

75. On or about November 8, 2010, $50,000.00 was transferred from 

BHC Wachovia Bank account x3498 to Synergy Medical Solutions to “Repay 

Loan”. 

76. On or about November 18, 2010, Defendant DUNNING and others 

caused the transfer of $5,000.00 from Wachovia Bank account x6548 in the name 

of Synergy Health Link to Wachovia Bank account x3485 in the name of Synergy 

Medical Solutions. 
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77. On or about November 26, 2010, $100,000.00 was transferred from 

BHC to Synergy Medical Solutions. 

78. On or about November 30, 2010, BHC submitted a materially false 

and misleading response to a HRSA inquiry.  

79. On or about December 22, 2010, Defendant DUNNING and others 

caused the transfer of $3,000.00 from Wachovia Bank account x6548 in the name 

of Synergy Health Link to Wachovia Bank account x3485 in the name of Synergy 

Medical Solutions. 

80. On or about January 1, 2011, Defendant DUNNING caused BHC to 

outsource its medical billing to Synergy Billing Solutions.  BHC agreed to pay 

Synergy Billing Solutions 8 percent of gross insurance payments and patient 

payments. 

81. On or about February 15, 2011, Defendant DUNNING caused BHC 

to enter into a promissory note in which BHC agreed to repay Synergy Medical 

Solutions “the principal sum of $1.3m [$1,300,000.00] or the aggregate unpaid 

principal amount of all advances made” to BHC pursuant to a “Revolving Line of 

Credit Agreement” at an interest rate of ten percent. 

82. On or about April 15, 2011, Defendant DUNNING caused SREH I 

and SREH II jointly to refinance the Plaza Property and the Norwood Property to 
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BB&T Bank in the amount of $5,185,000.00, resulting in payment of mortgage 

proceeds in the amount of approximately $1,391,000.00.  Said proceeds were 

deposited into BB&T Bank checking account x1121 in the name of “BB&T as the 

agent for Synergy Real Estate Holdings, LLC 2 signatures required.” 

83. From on or about April 15, 2011, through on or about March 26, 

2013, Defendant DUNNING and others caused 22 transfers of funds from BB&T 

Bank account x1121 to BB&T Bank account x1156 in the name of Synergy 

Medical Solutions.  The aggregate value of these 22 transactions was 

approximately $1,377,932.59. 

84. In or about May 2011, Defendant DUNNING caused a BFFCU 

account titled in his name to be retitled as “BHC Revolving Credit Line.” 

85. On or about July 22, 2011, Defendant DUNNING and others caused 

BHC to issue check number 5913 from Wachovia Bank account x3498 to Synergy 

Medical Solutions in the amount of $62,667.00. 

86. On or about August 30, 2011, Defendant DUNNING and others 

caused BHC to issue check number 5997 from Wachovia Bank account x3498 to 

Synergy Medical Solutions in the amount of $67,999.99. 
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87. On or about September 13, 2011, Defendant DUNNING and others 

caused BHC to issue check number 7017 from BB&T Bank account x1091 to 

Synergy Medical Solutions in the amount of $67,999.99. 

88. On or about October 1, 2011, Defendant DUNNING caused BHC and 

Synergy Billing Solutions to execute an addendum to their contract of January 1, 

2011.  The addendum obligated (a) Synergy Billing Solutions to take responsibility 

for having BHC’s physicians credentialed and (b) BHC to pay over an additional 

1% of its receipts from insurance companies and patients. 

89. On or about October 7, 2011, Defendant DUNNING and others 

caused BHC to issue check number 7071 from BB&T Bank account x1091 to 

Synergy Medical Solutions in the amount of $57,999.99. 

90. On or about December 6, 2011, Defendant DUNNING and others 

caused BHC to issue check number 7676 from BB&T Bank account x1091 to 

Synergy Real Estate Holdings in the amount of $51,333.33. 

91. On or about January 1, 2012, Defendant DUNNING caused BHC and 

IHSA to enter a contract under which BHC would pay IHSA $5,500.00 per month 

as compensation. 
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92. On or about January 6, 2012, Defendant DUNNING and others 

caused BHC to issue check number 8135 from BB&T Bank account x1091 to 

Synergy Real Estate Holdings in the amount of $51,333.33. 

93. In or about January 2012, Defendant DUNNING and others caused 

BHC to mortgage the Metro Property to BB&T Bank for $880,000.00. 

94. On or about January 18, 2012, Defendant DUNNING and others 

caused BHC to issue check number 8146 from BB&T Bank account x1091 to 

Synergy Medical Solutions in the amount of $350,000.00. 

95. On or about February 3, 2012, Defendant DUNNING and others 

caused BHC to issue check number 8319 from BB&T Bank account x1091 to 

Synergy Real Estate Holdings in the amount of $51,333.33. 

96. In or about February 2012, Synergy Real Estate Holdings IV 

(“SREH IV”) was incorporated.  Defendant DUNNING became the registered 

agent of SREH IV. 

97. On or about March 5, 2012, Defendant DUNNING and others caused 

BHC to issue check number 8426 from BB&T Bank account x1091 to Synergy 

Real Estate Holdings in the amount of $51,333.33. 
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98. On or about April 3, 2012, Defendant DUNNING and others caused 

BHC to issue check number 6042 from BB&T Bank account x1091 to Synergy 

Real Estate Holdings in the amount of $52,733.33. 

99. On or about April 3, 2012, Defendant DUNNING and others caused 

BHC to issue check number 6044 from BB&T Bank account x1091 to Synergy 

Real Estate Holdings in the amount of $10,000.00 with the notation “Inducement – 

April 2012.” 

100. Throughout 2012, 2013, and 2014, Defendant DUNNING and others 

caused BHC to continue making payments to DUNNING, the Synergy Entities, 

and IHSA, including payments for purported rent obligations, services, and loan 

repayments. 

101. On or about June 11 and 12, 2013, Defendant DUNNING 

corresponded with the co-owner of Synergy Billing Solutions (“SBS”) who 

handled the provision of billing services under the BHC-SBS contract.  The co-

owner was concerned about a lack of payment from BHC to SBS.  Defendant 

DUNNING encouraged the co-owner to wait for payment from BHC, asserting 

that BHC owed DUNNING over $500,000. 
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102. On or about December 9, 2013, Defendant DUNNING negotiated 

BHC check 5590 in the amount of $17,090.83 by depositing it into his personal 

account at Heritage Bank, that is account x 2131. 

103. On or about December 31, 2013, Defendant DUNNING negotiated 

BHC check 5841 in the amount of $15,048.38, depositing $12,048.38 of those 

funds into Heritage Bank account x 2131. 

104. On or about December 31, 2013, Defendant DUNNING caused the 

First Avenue Property to be sold and caused the net proceeds of $52,893.53 to be 

deposited into Heritage Bank account x 2131. 

105. On or about January 9, 2014, Defendant DUNNING and others 

caused BHC to issue check number 5873 for $5,000 from BB&T Bank account 

x1064 made payable to DUNNING for “Loan Payment Towards Balance.” 

106. On or about January 27, 2014, Defendant DUNNING and others 

caused BHC to issue check number 6007 for $52,667.29 from BB&T Bank 

account x1064 made payable to Synergy Real Estate Holdings. 

107. On or about January 31, 2014, Defendant DUNNING and others 

caused BHC to issue check number 6006 for $14,814.33 from BB&T Bank 

account x1064 made payable to Synergy Real Estate Holdings II and deposited 

into DUNNING’s Heritage Bank account x2131. 
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108. On or about February 13, 2014, Defendant DUNNING and others 

caused BHC to issue check number 6119 for $18,192.83 from BB&T Bank 

account x1064 made payable to Synergy Billing Solutions and deposited into 

DUNNING’s Heritage Bank account x2131. 

109. On or about March 10, 2014, Defendant DUNNING and others 

caused BHC to issue check number 6385 for $11,442.90 from BHC BB&T Bank 

account x1064 to DUNNING. 

110. On or about April 14, 2014, Defendant DUNNING and others caused 

BHC to issue check number 6736 for $11,442.90 from BHC BB&T Bank account 

x1064 to DUNNING. 

111. On or about May 5, 2014, Defendant DUNNING and others caused 

BHC to issue check number 6887 for $5,000.00 from BHC BB&T Bank account 

x1064 to DUNNING. 

112. On or about June 1, 2014, Defendant DUNNING and others caused 

BHC to issue check number 7153 for $18,750.00 from BHC BB&T Bank account 

x1064 to SREH II. 

113. On or about July 1, 2014, Defendant DUNNING and others caused 

BHC to issue check number 7460 for $18,750.00 from BHC BB&T Bank account 

x1064 to SREH II and deposited into DUNNING’s Heritage Bank account x2131. 
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All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371. 
 

COUNTS FIVE THROUGH SIXTY-NINE 
Wire Fraud 

18 U.S.C. §§ 1343, 1349, & 2 
 

1. The Grand Jury repeats and realleges the allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1 through 21 of the Introduction to this Superseding Indictment as 

though fully set out herein. 

2. The Grand Jury repeats and realleges the allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1 through 14 of Counts One through Three of this Superseding 

Indictment as though fully set out herein. 

The Scheme and Artifice 

3. From in or about September 2007, until the present, in Jefferson 

County, within the Northern District of Alabama, and elsewhere, the defendant 

JONATHAN WADE DUNNING 

aided and abetted by others, known and unknown, did knowingly and with the 

intent to defraud, devise and intend to devise and attempt to devise a scheme and 

artifice to defraud the United States Department of Health and Human Services 

(“HHS”), the Health Resources & Services Administration (“HRSA”), 

Birmingham Health Care (“BHC”), Central Alabama Comprehensive Health 
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(“CACH”), a co-owner of Synergy Billing Solutions, and others of money and 

property, and to obtain money and property, by means of materially false and 

fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises. 

Purpose of the Scheme and Artifice 

4. The Grand Jury repeats and realleges the allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1 through 113 of Count Four of this Superseding Indictment as though 

fully set out herein, substituting the phrase “a part of the scheme and artifice” for 

“a part of the conspiracy” for each occurrence of the latter phrase. 

The Wire Communications 

5. On or about the dates set forth below, each such date constituting a 

separate count of this Superseding Indictment, in Jefferson County within the 

Northern District of Alabama, and elsewhere, the defendant, 

JONATHAN WADE DUNNING, 

aided and abetted by others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, for the purpose 

of executing the above-described scheme and artifice, transmitted and caused to be 

transmitted and attempted to transmit in interstate commerce, by means of a wire 

communication, certain signs, signals, and communications, that is, Defendant 

JONATHAN WADE DUNNING caused an interstate wire communication 
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between Alabama and another state to be made for each electronic transfer of funds 

and for the negotiation of each check listed below for each Count. 

6. The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 5, under the heading “Counts 

Five through Sixty-Nine” of this Superseding Indictment, are realleged for each of 

Counts 5 through 69 below as though fully set forth therein: 

COUNT DATE AMOUNT FROM TO 

5 4/27/2010 $25,000.00 
Funds transfer from 
BHC Wachovia Bank 
account x3498 

SMS Wachovia 
Bank account 
x3485 

6 6/15/2010 $50,000.00 
Funds transfer from 
BHC Wachovia Bank 
account x3498 

SMS Wachovia 
Bank account 
x3485 

7 11/8/2010 $50,000.00 
Funds transfer from 
BHC Wachovia Bank 
account x3498 

SMS Wachovia 
Bank account 
x3485 

8 11/26/2010 $100,000.00 
Funds transfer from 
BHC Wachovia Bank 
account x3498 

SMS Wachovia 
Bank account 
x3485 

9 12/8/2010 $25,000.00 
Check #19794 from 
BHC Regions Bank 
account  x3788 

SMS Wachovia 
Bank account 
x3485 

10 12/20/2010 $25,000.00 
Check #19799 from 
BHC Regions Bank 
account  x3788  

SMS Wachovia 
Bank account 
x3485 

11 3/22/2011 $110,000.00 
Funds transfer from 
BHC Wachovia Bank 
account x3498 

SREH Wachovia 
Bank account 
x3469 

12 7/14/2011 $51,000.00 
Check #5877 from BHC 
Wachovia Bank account 
x3498 

SMS BB&T 
Bank account 
x1156 

13 8/30/2011 $67,999.99 
Check #5997 from BHC 
Wachovia Bank account 
x3498 

SMS BB&T 
Bank account 
x1156 
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COUNT DATE AMOUNT FROM TO 

14 10/7/2011 $57,999.99 
Check #7071 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1091 

SMS BB&T 
Bank account 
x1156 

15 12/6/2011 $51,333.33 
Check #7676 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1091 

SMS BB&T 
Bank account 
x1156 

16 1/18/2012 $350,000.00 
Check #8146 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1091 

DUNNING 
d/b/a SMS 
ServisFirst Bank 
account x9293 

17 3/5/2012 $51,333.33 
Check #8426 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1091 

SMS BB&T 
Bank account 
x1156 

18 6/1/2012 $10,000.00 
Check #6288  from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1091 

SMS BB&T 
Bank account 
x1156 

19 6/1/2012 $52,733.33 
Check #6285 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1091 

SMS BB&T 
Bank account 
x1156 

20 6/1/2012 $16,789.37 
Check #6289 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1091 

SMS BB&T 
Bank account 
x1156 

21 8/14/2012 $10,000.00 
Check #6750 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1091 

SMS BB&T 
Bank account 
x1156 

22 8/14/2012 $52,733.33 
Check #6751 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1091 

SMS BB&T 
Bank account 
x1156 

23 8/14/2012 $16,789.37 
Check #6749 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1091 

SMS BB&T 
Bank account 
x1156 

24 11/7/2012 $16,789.37 
Check #3202 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SMS BB&T 
Bank account 
x1156 

25 12/5/2012 $18,750.00 
Check #3297 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SREH II BB&T 
account x6619 
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COUNT DATE AMOUNT FROM TO 

26 1/4/2013 $18,750.00 
Check #3432 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SREH II BB&T 
account x6619 

27 3/18/2013 $18,750.00 
Check #3722 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SMS BB&T 
Bank account 
x1156 

28 4/2/2013 $18,750.00 
Check #3851 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SREH II BB&T 
account x6619 

29 4/24/2013 $18,750.00 
Check #3938 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SREH II BB&T 
account x6619 

30 4/29/2013 $18,750.00 
Check #3967 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SREH II BB&T 
account x6619 

31 6/1/2013 $18,750.00 
Check #4112 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SREH II BB&T 
account x6619 

32 7/3/2013 $13,732.83 
Check #4312 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SBS BB&T 
Bank account 
x1033 

33 7/25/2013 $13,732.84 
Check #4387 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SBS BB&T 
Bank account 
x1033 

34 7/30/2013 $18,750.00 
Check #4421 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SREH II BB&T 
account x6619 

35 8/6/2013 $13,732.83 
Check #4475 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SMS BB&T 
Bank account 
x1156 

36 8/22/2013 $10,000.00 
Check #4680 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SBS, deposited 
into SREH 
BB&T Bank 
account x7321 

37 10/1/2013 $18,750.00 
Check #4979 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SREH II BB&T 
account x6619 
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COUNT DATE AMOUNT FROM TO 

38 10/8/2013 $6,500.00 
Check #5159 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SREH, deposited 
into 
DUNNING’s 
Heritage Bank 
account x2131 

39 10/16/2013 $3,500.00 
Check #5244 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SREH, deposited 
into 
DUNNING’s 
Heritage Bank 
account x2131 

40 10/16/2013 $3,500.00 
Check #5243 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

DUNNING, 
Heritage Bank 
account x2131 

41 11/8/2013 $13,094.55 
Check #5436 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SBS, deposited 
into SMS BB&T 
Bank account 
x1156 

42 11/12/2013 $5,000.00 
Check #5389 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

DUNNING, 
Heritage Bank 
account x2131 

43 12/1/2013 $18,750.00 
Check #5537 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SREH II BB&T 
account x6619 

44 12/3/2013 $7,533.95 
Check #5577 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SREH II, 
deposited into 
DUNNING’s 
Heritage Bank 
account x2131 

45 12/4/2013 $2,354.84 
Check #5588 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SREH, deposited 
into 
DUNNING’s 
Heritage Bank 
account x2131 

46 12/6/2013 $17,090.83 
Check #5590 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SBS, deposited 
into 
DUNNING’s 
Heritage Bank 
account x2131 
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COUNT DATE AMOUNT FROM TO 

47 12/26/2013 $15,048.38 
Check #5841 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SBS, deposited 
into 
DUNNING’s 
Heritage Bank 
account x2131 

48 12/31/2013 $52,893.53 

Check #5112 from 
Maynard, Cooper, and 
Gale Regions Bank 
account x2403  

SREH III; 
deposited into 
DUNNING’s 
Heritage Bank 
account x2131 

49 1/1/2014 $18,750.00 
Check #5842 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SREH II BB&T 
account x6619 

50 1/9/2014 $5,000.00 
Check #5873 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

DUNNING, 
Heritage Bank 
account x2131 

51 1/27/2014 $18,750.00 
Check #5963 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SREH II, 
deposited into 
DUNNING’s 
Heritage Bank 
account x2131 

52 1/27/2014 $10.000.00 
Check #5964 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SREH, deposited 
into 
DUNNING’s 
Heritage Bank 
account x2131 

53 1/31/2014 $52,667.29 
Check #6007 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SREH BB&T 
account x7321  

54 1/31/2014 $14,814.33 
Check #6006 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SREH II, 
deposited into 
DUNNING’s 
Heritage Bank 
account x2131 

55 2/1/2014 $5,000.00 
Check #5933 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

DUNNING, 
Heritage Bank 
account x2131 
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COUNT DATE AMOUNT FROM TO 

56 2/13/2013 $18,192.83 
Check #6119 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SBS, deposited 
into 
DUNNING’s 
Heritage Bank 
account x2131 

57 2/25/2014 $18,750.00 
Check #6240 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SREH II BB&T 
account x6619 

58 3/10/2014 $11,442.90 
Check #6385 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

DUNNING, 
Heritage Bank 
account x2131 

59 3/11/2014 $17,369.78 
Check #6446 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SBS, deposited 
into 
DUNNING’s 
Heritage Bank 
account x2131 

60 4/1/2014 $18,750.00 
Check #6580 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SREH II BB&T 
account x6619 

61 4/1/2014 $5,000.00 
Check #6563 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

DUNNING, 
Heritage Bank 
account x2131 

62 4/1/2014 $14,678.09 
Check #6646 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SBS, deposited 
into 
DUNNING’s 
Heritage Bank 
account x2131 

63 4/14/2014 $11,442.90 
Check #6736 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

DUNNING, 
Heritage Bank 
account x2131 

64 5/1/2014 $18,750.00 
Check #6838 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SREH II BB&T 
account x6619 

65 5/5/2014 $5,000.00 
Check #6887 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

DUNNING, 
Heritage Bank 
account x2131 
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COUNT DATE AMOUNT FROM TO 

66 6/1/2014 $18,750.00 
Check #7153 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SREH II BB&T 
account x6619 

67 7/1/2014 $18,750.00 
Check #7460 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SREH II, 
deposited into 
DUNNING’s 
Heritage Bank 
account x2131 

68 9/2/2014 $18,750.00 
Check #8007 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SREH II BB&T 
account x6619 

69 10/1/2014 $18,750.00 
Check #8176 from BHC 
BB&T Bank account 
x1064 

SREH II BB&T 
account x6619 

 
 All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343, 1349, and 2. 
 

COUNTS SEVENTY THROUGH SEVENTY-TWO 
Bank Fraud 

18 U.S.C. §§ 1344 & 2 
 

1. The Grand Jury repeats and realleges the allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1 through 21 of the Introduction to this Superseding Indictment as 

though fully set out herein. 

2. The Grand Jury repeats and realleges the allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1 through 14 of Counts One through Three of this Superseding 

Indictment as though fully set out herein. 

3. The Grand Jury repeats and realleges the allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1 through 113 of Count Four of this Superseding Indictment as though 
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fully set out herein, substituting the phrase “a part of the scheme and artifice” for 

“a part of the conspiracy” for each occurrence of the latter phrase. 

4. The Grand Jury repeats and realleges the allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1 through 6 of Counts Five through Sixty-Nine of this Superseding 

Indictment as though fully set out herein. 

5. From on or about October 3, 2008, until in or about October 2011, in 

Jefferson County, within the Northern District of Alabama, and elsewhere, the 

defendant 

JONATHAN WADE DUNNING 

aided and abetted by others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, knowingly did 

execute and attempt to execute a scheme and artifice to defraud Birmingham 

Financial Federal Credit Union (“BFFCU”), a financial institution then insured by 

the National Credit Union Association (“NCUA”), of money and funds and to 

obtain the monies, funds, credits, assets, securities, and other property owned by, 

and under the custody and control of BFFCU by means of materially false and 

fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises. 

6. It was a part of the scheme and artifice that Defendant JONATHAN 

WADE DUNNING would and did cause Birmingham Health Care to secure the 

sponsorship of an existing credit union charter from HABD Federal Credit Union. 
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7. It was further a part of the scheme and artifice that Defendant 

DUNNING would and did cause the name of the existing credit union to change to 

Birmingham Financial Federal Credit Union. 

8. It was further a part of the scheme and artifice that Defendant 

DUNNING would and did assume various positions at BFFCU – including 

President, Board Chairman, and/or Loan Officer. 

9. It was further a part of the scheme and artifice that Defendant 

DUNNING would and did ensure that supervisory, management, and oversight 

positions within BFFCU would be and were occupied by individuals who would 

comply with directions from Defendant DUNNING. 

10. It was further a part of the scheme and artifice that Defendant 

DUNNING would and did exercise influence over the said supervisory, 

management, and oversight personnel to cause BFFCU to exercise favorable 

treatment of Defendant DUNNING, the Synergy Entities, and certain others with 

respect to loans, interest payments, transfers among accounts, and other 

expenditures and methods of obtaining access to monies and funds under the 

custody and control of BFFCU. 

Case 2:14-cr-00382-LSC-JHE   Document 4   Filed 01/29/15   Page 47 of 64



 
 48 

11. It was further a part of the scheme and artifice that Defendant 

DUNNING would and did cause BHC and CACH to place monies on deposit with 

BFFCU. 

12. It was further a part of the scheme and artifice that Defendant 

DUNNING would and did cause money to be expended from BFFCU to pay debts 

and bills of BHC ostensibly as part of a Revolving Line of Credit agreement 

between BHC and Synergy Medical Solutions and without those expenditures 

being recorded in the true books and records of BHC. 

13. It was further a part of the scheme and artifice that Defendant 

DUNNING would and did cause BHC funds to be used to pay debts and bills of 

the Synergy Entities and DUNNING personally. 

14. It was further a part of the scheme and artifice that Defendant 

DUNNING would and did cause BFFCU to operate under the false pretense of 

being a legitimate and independent financial institution free of self-dealing when, 

in truth and in fact, Defendant DUNNING was manipulating the accounts and 

practices of BFFCU for the gain of himself, the Synergy Entities, and others. 
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COUNT SEVENTY 
(Execution of the Scheme and Artifice) 

 
15. The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 14, under the heading 

“Counts Seventy through Seventy-Two” of this Superseding Indictment, are 

realleged for this Count as though fully set forth herein. 

16. From in or about September 2010, through in or about October 2011, 

in Jefferson County, within the Northern District of Alabama, and elsewhere, 

Defendant JONATHAN WADE DUNNING, aided and abetted by others known 

and unknown to the Grand Jury, executed and attempted to execute the scheme and 

artifice as set forth above, in that he caused BHC’s daily receipts of cash and 

checks to be placed under the custody and control of BFFCU by being deposited 

into a BFFCU account and, thereafter, caused the funds in that account to be used 

to make payments to DUNNING, the Synergy Entities, and others preferred by 

DUNNING, without regard to BHC’s solvency and the necessity of BHC making 

other payments. 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1344 and 2. 

  

Case 2:14-cr-00382-LSC-JHE   Document 4   Filed 01/29/15   Page 49 of 64



 
 50 

COUNT SEVENTY-ONE 
(Execution of the Scheme and Artifice) 

 
17. The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 14, under the heading 

“Counts Seventy through Seventy-Two”  of this Superseding Indictment, are 

realleged for this Count as though fully set forth herein. 

18. On or about July 27, 2010, in Jefferson County, within the Northern 

District of Alabama, and elsewhere, Defendant JONATHAN WADE DUNNING, 

aided and abetted by others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, executed and 

attempted to execute the scheme and artifice as set forth above, in that he used his 

position and influence at BFFCU to (a) require BFFCU to fund a loan of 

$85,000.00 for Defendant DUNNING’s purchase of a 2011 Jaguar XJL, without 

regard to whether DUNNING could and would have been approved for the loan 

through BFFCU’s policies and procedures and (b) use BHC funds under the 

custody and control of BFFCU to make payments on the loan. 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1344 and 2. 

COUNT SEVENTY-TWO 
(Execution of the Scheme and Artifice) 

 
19. The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 14, under the heading 

“Counts Seventy through Seventy-Two”  of this Superseding Indictment, are 

realleged for this Count as though fully set forth herein. 
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20. On or about February 24, 2011,  in Jefferson County, within the 

Northern District of Alabama, and elsewhere, Defendant JONATHAN WADE 

DUNNING, aided and abetted by others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, 

executed and attempted to execute the scheme and artifice as set forth above, in 

that he used his position and influence at BFFCU to (a) require BFFCU to fund a 

signature loan for Defendant DUNNING, without regard to whether DUNNING 

could and would have been approved for the loan through BFFCU’s policies and 

procedures and to (b) use BHC funds under the custody and control of BFFCU to 

make payments on the loan. 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1344 and 2. 

COUNTS SEVENTY-THREE THROUGH SEVENTY-EIGHT 
Money Laundering 

18 U.S.C. §§ 1956 & 2 
 

1. The Grand Jury repeats and realleges the allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1 through 21 of the Introduction to this Superseding Indictment as 

though fully set out herein. 

2. The Grand Jury repeats and realleges the allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1 through 14 of Counts One through Three of this Superseding 

Indictment as though fully set out herein. 
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3. The Grand Jury repeats and realleges the allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1 through 113 of Count Four of this Superseding Indictment as though 

fully set out herein. 

4. The Grand Jury repeats and realleges the allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1 through 6 of Counts Five through Sixty-Nine of this Superseding 

Indictment as though fully set out herein. 

5. The Grand Jury repeats and realleges the allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1 through 20 of Counts Seventy through Seventy-Two of this of this 

Superseding Indictment as though fully set out herein. 

6. On or about the date set forth below for each Count, in Jefferson 

County, within the Northern District of Alabama, and elsewhere, the defendant, 

JONATHAN WADE DUNNING 

aided and abetted by others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, knowingly 

conducted and attempted to conduct and caused and attempted to cause another to 

conduct a financial transaction in and affecting interstate commerce, that is, writing 

checks and transferring funds in the amount specified below for each Count from 

the account specified below for each Count to the recipient specified below for 

each Count, which involved the proceeds of specified unlawful activity, that is, 

conspiracy, wire fraud, and bank fraud,  
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a. with the intent to promote the carrying on of specified unlawful 

activity, that is, conspiracy, wire fraud, and bank fraud, and 

b. knowing that each transaction was designed in whole and in 

part to conceal and disguise the nature, location, source, 

ownership, and control of the proceeds of said specified 

unlawful activity, that is, conspiracy, wire fraud, and bank 

fraud, and 

that while conducting and attempting to conduct each such financial transaction, 

knew that the property and funds involved in each financial transaction represented 

the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity. 

7. The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 6, under the heading “Counts 

Seventy-Three through Seventy-Eight” of this Superseding Indictment, are 

realleged for each of Counts 73 through 78 below as though fully set forth therein: 

COUNT DATE AMOUNT TRANSFERRED 
FROM 

TRANSFERRED 
TO 

73 7/29/2010 $3,000.00 Wachovia Bank 
account x6548 

Wachovia Bank 
account x3485 

74 9/13/2010 $10,000.00 Wachovia Bank 
account x6548 

Wachovia Bank 
account x3485 

75 9/14/2010 $175,000.00 Wachovia Bank 
account x6603 

Wachovia Bank 
account x3498 

76 9/27/2010 $30,000.00 Wachovia Bank 
account x6548 

Wachovia Bank 
account x3485 

77 11/18/2010 $5,000.00 Wachovia Bank 
account x6548 

Wachovia Bank 
account x3485 
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COUNT DATE AMOUNT TRANSFERRED 
FROM 

TRANSFERRED 
TO 

78 12/22/2010 $3,000.00 Wachovia Bank 
account x6548 

Wachovia Bank 
account x3485 

 
 All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(1)(A)(i), 

1956(a)(1)(B)(1), and 2. 

COUNTS SEVENTY-NINE THROUGH ONE HUNDRED TWELVE 
Money Laundering 

18 U.S.C. §§ 1957 & 2 
 

1. The Grand Jury repeats and realleges the allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1 through 21 of the Introduction to this Superseding Indictment as 

though fully set out herein. 

2. The Grand Jury repeats and realleges the allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1 through 14 of Counts One through Three of this Superseding 

Indictment as though fully set out herein. 

3. The Grand Jury repeats and realleges the allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1 through 113 of Count Four of this Superseding Indictment as though 

fully set out herein. 

4. The Grand Jury repeats and realleges the allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1 through 6 of Counts Five through Sixty-Nine of this Superseding 

Indictment as though fully set out herein. 
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5. The Grand Jury repeats and realleges the allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1 through 20 of Counts Seventy through Seventy-Two of this 

Superseding Indictment as though fully set out herein. 

6. On or about the date set forth below for each Count, in Jefferson 

County, within the Northern District of Alabama, and elsewhere, the defendant, 

JONATHAN WADE DUNNING, 

aided and abetted by others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, did knowingly 

engage and attempt to engage in a monetary transaction set forth below for each 

Count by, through, and to a financial institution, affecting interstate and foreign 

commerce, in criminally derived property of a value greater than $10,000, that is a 

check, withdrawal, and fund transfer more specifically identified below for each 

count, knowing that said property had been derived from specified unlawful 

activities, that is, conspiracy, wire fraud, and bank fraud. 

7. The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 6, under the heading “Counts 

Seventy-Nine through One Hundred Twelve” of this Superseding Indictment, are 

realleged for each of Counts 79 through 112 below as though fully set forth 

therein: 
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COUNT DATE TRANSACTION FROM TO 

79 3/19/2010 Transfer of 
$850,004.00 Wells Fargo SMS Wachovia 

account at x3485 

80 4/7/2010 

Check #2752 in 
the amount of 
$100,000.00 

SMS 
Wachovia 
Bank account 
x3485 

BBFCU Certificate 
of Deposit in name 
of DUNNING 

81 5/16/2011 
Transfer of 
$35,760.03 

SREH’s BB&T 
Bank account 
x1121 

SMS’s BB&T Bank 
account x1156 

82 9/15/2011 
Transfer of 
$12,366.66 

SREH’s BB&T 
Bank account 
x1121 

SMS’s BB&T Bank 
account x1156 

83 11/14/2011 
Transfer of 
$46,852.66 

SREH’s BB&T 
Bank account 
x1121 

SMS’s BB&T Bank 
account x1156 

84 12/8/2011 
Transfer of 
$37,177.13 

SREH’s BB&T 
Bank account 
x1121 

SMS’s BB&T Bank 
account x1156 

85 12/16/2011 
Check #1160 in 
the amount of 
$16,574.67 

SMS’s BB&T 
Bank account 
x1156 

NM Construction  

86 1/26/2012 
Transfer of 
$53,353.34 

SREH’s BB&T 
Bank account 
x1121 

SMS’s BB&T Bank 
account x1156 

87 2/15/2012 
Check #1204 in 
the amount of 
$39,680.00 

SMS’s BB&T 
Bank account 
x1156 

Vincent 
Construction 

88 2/24/2012 
Transfer of 
$63,799.14 

SREH’s BB&T 
Bank account 
X1121 

SMS’s BB&T Bank 
account x1156 

89 3/9/2012 
Check #1235 in 
the amount of 
$55,673.70 

SMS’s BB&T 
Bank account 
x1156 

Vincent 
Construction 

90 3/14/2012 
Transfer of 
$57,531.70 

SREH’s BB&T 
Bank account 
x1121 

SMS’s BB&T Bank 
account x1156 
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COUNT DATE TRANSACTION FROM TO 

91 4/2/2012 
Transfer of 
$44,025.50 

SREH’s BB&T 
Bank account 
x1121 

SMS’s BB&T Bank 
account x1156 

92 4/4/2012 
Check #1270 in 
the amount of 
$40,525.50 

SMS’s BB&T 
Bank account 
x1156 

Vincent 
Construction 

93 4/13/2012 
Transfer of 
$71,173.75 

SREH’s BB&T 
Bank account 
x1121 

SMS’s BB&T Bank 
account x1156 

94 4/18/2012 
Check #1299 in 
the amount of 
$69,309.75 

SMS’s BB&T 
Bank account 
x1156 

Vincent 
Construction 

95 5/7/2012 
Transfer of 
$26,041.08 

SREH’s BB&T 
Bank account 
x1121 

SMS’s BB&T Bank 
account x1156 

96 6/1/2012 
Transfer of 
$67,143.73 

SREH’s BB&T 
Bank account 
x1121 

SMS’s BB&T Bank 
account x1156 

97 6/4/2012 
Check #1362 in 
the amount of 
$37,843.50 

SMS’s BB&T 
Bank account 
x1156 

Vincent 
Construction 

98 7/2/2012 
Cash 
withdrawal of 
$11,500.00 

SMS’s BB&T 
Bank account 
x1156 

N/A 

99 7/19/2012 
Check #1424 in 
the amount of 
$10,996.00 

SMS’s BB&T 
Bank account 
x1156 

La Dolce Vita 

100 7/25/2012 
Transfer of 
$47,925.18 

SREH’s BB&T 
Bank account 
x1121 

SMS’s BB&T Bank 
account x1156 

101 8/15/2012 
Transfer of 
$14,000.00 

SMS’s BB&T 
Bank account 
x1156 

La Dolce Vita 

102 8/20/2012 
Check #1471 in 
the amount of 
$13,200.50 

SMS’s BB&T 
Bank account 
x1156 

Vincent 
Construction 
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COUNT DATE TRANSACTION FROM TO 

103 8/31/2012 
Check #1485 in 
the amount of 
$14,500.00 

SMS’s BB&T 
Bank account 
x1156 

La Dolce Vita 

104 9/20/2012 
Check #1520 in 
the amount of 
$11,000.00 

SMS’s BB&T 
Bank account 
x1156 

La Dolce Vita 

105 10/2/2012 
Transfer of 
$103,610.75 

SREH’s BB&T 
Bank account 
x1121 

SMS’s BB&T Bank 
account x1156 

106 11/29/2012 
Transfer of 
$99,636.50 

SREH’s BB&T 
Bank account 
x1121 

SMS’s BB&T Bank 
account x1156 

107 11/29/2012 
Transfer of 
$234,581.10 

SREH’s BB&T 
Bank account 
x1121 

SMS’s BB&T Bank 
account x1156 

108 12/17/2012 

Cash 
withdrawal of 
$16,715.71 to 
fund BB&T 
Bank Official 
Check 
#5004509562, 
issued to Dixie 
Store Fixtures 
& Sales Co. 

SMS’s BB&T 
Bank account 
x1156 

N/A 

109 2/12/2013 
Transfer of 
$94,696.03 

SREH’s BB&T 
Bank account 
x1121 

SMS’s BB&T Bank 
account x1156 

110 2/12/2013 
Transfer of 
$213,570.00 

SREH’s BB&T 
Bank account 
x1121 

SMS’s BB&T Bank 
account x1156 

111 3/26/2013 
Transfer of 
$33,794.19 

SREH’s BB&T 
Bank account 
x1121 

SMS’s BB&T Bank 
account x1156 
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COUNT DATE TRANSACTION FROM TO 

112 1/31/2014 

Check # 1027 in 
the amount of 
$78,281.86 

Heritage Bank 
account x4821 

“J.T. Smallwood , 
tax colletr” [sic], 
negotiated at Bryant 
Bank 

 
 All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1957 and 2. 
 

NOTICE OF FORFEITURE  

[18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C) and 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c)] 

1. The allegations contained in Counts One through Three of this 

Indictment are hereby realleged and incorporated by reference for the purpose of 

alleging forfeiture pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C) 

and Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c). 

2. Upon conviction of the offenses in violation of Title 18, United States 

Code, Section 1343 set forth in Counts One through Three of this Indictment, the 

defendant, 

JONATHAN WADE DUNNING, 

shall forfeit to the United States of America, pursuant to Title 18, United States 

Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C) and Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c), any 

property, real or personal, which constitutes or is derived from proceeds traceable 

to the offense. 
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3. If any of the property described above, as a result of any act or 

omission of the defendant: 

a. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence; 
 

b. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party; 
 

c. has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court; 
 

d. has been substantially diminished in value; or 
 

e. has been commingled with other property which cannot be 
divided without difficulty, 

 
the United States of America shall be entitled to forfeiture of substitute property 

pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p), as incorporated by Title 

28, United States Code, Section 2461(C). 

 All pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C) and 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c). 

NOTICE OF FORFEITURE 
[18 U.S.C. § 982(a)] 

 
 

1. The allegations contained in Counts Four through One Hundred 

Twelve of this Indictment are hereby realleged and incorporated by reference for 

the purpose of alleging forfeitures pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 982(a). 

2. Upon conviction of the offense(s) charged in Counts Four through 

One Hundred Twelve of this Superseding Indictment, alleging wire fraud, bank 

fraud, money laundering, and conspiracy to commit all of the foregoing, as 

Case 2:14-cr-00382-LSC-JHE   Document 4   Filed 01/29/15   Page 60 of 64



 
 61 

well as conspiracy to commit theft from a program receiving Federal funds, 

the defendant, JONATHAN WADE DUNNING, shall forfeit to the United 

States of America, the following, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 982(a): 

• Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 982(a)(1), any property, real or personal, 

involved in an offense in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1956 and/or 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1957, or a conspiracy to commit such offense.  Property subject to 

forfeiture under this provision includes, but is not limited to, a money 

judgment; 

• Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 982(a)(2), any property constituting, or derived 

from, proceeds obtained directly or indirectly as the result of the 

offense(s) in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1343 and/or 1344, or a 

conspiracy to commit such offense.  Property subject to forfeiture under 

this provision includes, but is not limited to, a money judgment; 

• Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 982(a)(7), any property, real or personal, that 

constitutes or is derived, directly or indirectly, from gross proceeds 

traceable to the offense(s) in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1343, or a 

conspiracy to commit such offense, or a conspiracy to commit an 

offense in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 666.  Property subject to forfeiture 

under this provision includes, but is not limited to, a money judgment. 
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 3. If any of the above-described forfeitable property, as a result of any 

act or omission of the defendant: 

  a. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence; 

  b. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party; 

  c. has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court; 

  d. has been substantially diminished in value; or 

e. has been commingled with other property which cannot be 

divided without difficulty; 

it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 853(p), as 

incorporated by 18 U.S.C. § 982(b), to seek forfeiture of any property of said 

defendant up to the value of the forfeitable property described above. 

 All in accordance with Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a). 
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NOTICE OF FORFEITURE  

[18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C) and 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c)] 

1. The allegations contained in Counts Four through Seventy-Two of 

this Indictment are hereby realleged and incorporated by reference for the purpose 

of alleging forfeiture pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 

981(a)(1)(C) and Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c). 

2. Upon conviction of the offenses in violation of Title 18, United States 

Code, Sections 371, 1343, and 1344 set forth in Counts Four through Seventy-Two 

of this Superseding Indictment, the defendant, 

JONATHAN WADE DUNNING, 

shall forfeit to the United States of America, pursuant to Title 18, United States 

Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C) and Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c), any 

property, real or personal, which constitutes or is derived from proceeds traceable 

to the offense. 

3. If any of the property described above, as a result of any act or 

omission of the defendant: 

a. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence; 
 

b. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party; 
 

c. has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court; 
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d. has been substantially diminished in value; or 
 

e. has been commingled with other property which cannot be 
divided without difficulty, 

 
the United States of America shall be entitled to forfeiture of substitute property 

pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p), as incorporated by Title 

28, United States Code, Section 2461(C). 

 All pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C) and 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c). 

A TRUE BILL. 
 
/s/       
GRAND JURY FOREPERSON 
 

JOYCE WHITE VANCE 
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY 

 
 

/s/        
MELISSA K. ATWOOD 
Assistant United States Attorney 
 
 
/s/        
TAMARRA MATTHEWS-JOHNSON 
Assistant United States Attorney 
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